FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 30 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chiler Desaty Clerk

JOSEPH NAHUME GREEN, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 83,003

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellate counsel normally presents the Statement of the Facts in a story format. Events occur that way, and it makes for more interesting reading. To some extent, I will present the murder of Judith Miscally that way. Because the state's case rested on what Lonnie Thompson saw on the night of the murder, I must not only give his version of the events, I need also to present the evidence that severely impeached his credibility. I realize, of course, this court has disapproved arguments attacking jury verdicts because the weight of the evidence is so slight that it cannot hold down their decision. Tibbs.v. State, 397 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 1981); affirmed Tibbs v. Florida, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982). Yet, an unusual melding of factors here produced a result so unusual and so unreliable that the equally unusual Tibbs argument must be made. A well-liked woman in a small town is senselessly murdered, ostensibly by a convicted felon from Miami. Virtually the only

evidence linking Green to the murder came from a retarded drunk who initially said a white male had shot the victim. The police found no fingerprints, hair, or blood to connect Green to the murder, and their sloppy, incomplete work further weakened an already questionable prosecution.

As argued in this brief, the trial court made several errors. Normally, if this court agreed that one or more of the issues had merit, it would then conduct a harmless error analysis. Such cannot be done here. Lonnie Thompson was so severely impeached at trial and the state's case was so inherently weak that the very reliability of the jury's verdict is questioned. In short, appellate counsel suggests that the state presented such a weak case that a substantial likelihood exists the jury convicted an innocent man of first degree murder. Whatever standard of review this court uses, whether it is substantial competent evidence, or in the interests of justice, this court cannot allow Green's convictions to stand.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Bradford County on January 15, 1992 charged Joseph Green, the Appellant, with one count of first degree murder (R 1-2). He pled not guilty to that charge, and the case proceeded normally for matters of this sort. That is, he or the state filed several motions, demands, or notices, and the ones particularly relevant to this appeal are:

- 1. Motion for adversary Preliminary Hearing (R 19-20).
- 2. Motion to take deposition to perpetuate testimony (R 50-52). Granted (R 61).
- 3. Motion to hold material witness (R 78-79). Rule to show cause (three) (R 82-84). Order dismissing rule to show cause (R 96).
- 4. Motion to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant (R 101-03) and Amended Motion to Suppress (R 122-24). Denied (R 501-506).
 - 5. Motion to unseal records of Lonnie Thompson (R 106-107). Granted (R 328).
 - 6. Motion for Pre-trial release (R 109-110). Denied (R 422).
- 7. Request for judicial notice regarding criminal records of Lonnie Thompson (R 111-112).
- 8. Motion challenging the competency of Lonnie Thompson (R 113-14) with memorandum (R 128-34). Denied (T 1148).
- 9. Motion to suppress identification of Green by Lonnie Thompson (R 136-38). Denied (R 426).
- 10. Motion for change of venue (R 215-17), Memorandum in support of change of venue (R 218-223), Amended Motion for change of venue (R 359-373), second amended motion for change of venue (R 475-95), third amended motion for change of venue (R 509-532). Denied (R 423, T 632).
- 11. Motion in limine number six (limiting statements made by the deceased after being shot but before she died.) (R 462-63). Denied (R 536-37).

The jury, after hearing the evidence and law returned a verdict finding Green guilty of the murder as charged (R 564). The court denied his subsequent motion for new trial or arrest of judgment (R 570-71, 595).

Green proceeded to the penalty phase of the trial. Motions relevant to that phase of the proceeding were as follows:

- 1. Motion to hold material witness (R 572-73). Rule to show cause (R 580).
- 2. Motion to exclude aggravating circumstances (R 574-77).
- 3. Motion to clarify verdict of guilt or exclude aggravating circumstance (R 583-85).
- 4. Motion in limine regarding evidence of polygraphy examination (R 593-94).

The jury, after hearing more evidence and law, recommended, by a vote of 9-3, that Green die (R 600). The court, following that verdict, sentenced him to death (R 651-655). Supporting that determination, the court found in aggravation,

- 1. Green has a prior conviction for a violent felony (R 643).
- 2. The capital felony was committed while the Defendant was engaged in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit, a robbery (R 644).

In mitigation, the court found none of the statutory mitigators, but it did find the following other mitigation:

- 1. The defendant had been abused as a child. Slight weight (R 647).
- 2. The defendant sufferers from some neuro-psychological brain disfunction (R 647). Slight weight (R 648).
- 3. The defendant came from an economically disadvantaged background that included a large family and being raised by a single parent (R 648). Slight weight (R 648).

- 4. The defendant had rehabilitated himself by finding employment and by gaining the trust and confidence of his employers (R 648-49). Significant weight (R 649).
- 5. The defendant argued that the prior second degree murder of which he was convicted in 1983 was not willful (R 649). Given weight (R 649).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Judy Miscally worked during the day at the <u>Bradford Telegraph</u>, Starke, Florida's newspaper (T 787). She was well known and liked in the community (e.g. T 137). During the evening she and her husband operated an outdoor cleaning service, and on December 8, 1991 they were clearing the parking lot of the Bradford County Courthouse (in Starke) of debris (T 788). About 10 p.m. Russell Miscally asked his wife to call their son to bring a trailer to the courthouse (T 789). She got in their truck and drove to a "Mapco" convenience store a few blocks away. She parked the vehicle near a pay telephone and got out. The area around that part of the store was poorly lit (T 1404-1405). It also had a history of people loitering and panhandling in the area (T 1399, 1406). As she attempted to make the call, a skinny black person came from behind a dumpster and accosted her, demanding money (T 911). She screamed once and he got mad When she screamed again, he shot her once with a shiny .32 caliber pistol (T 912). John Goolsby, who was waiting at a stop light about 80 yards away, looked toward the pair when he hear the shot. He saw Mrs. Miscally bend over then walk a step or two and collapse on the ground (T 818-19). He rushed over to help her and a store clerk also ran outside to help.

The police and a medical unit were on the scene within minutes. When asked what had happened Mrs. Miscally said that a skinny black man in his mid 20's had come from behind the dumpster near the store, accosted her, and demanded money (T 911). When she refused and screamed, he told her to shut up. When she screamed again he grabbed her and shot her (T 911). He then apparently fled in the direction of the dumpster without getting

anything from her (T 911). Mrs. Miscally died some time later. She never said Joseph Green shot her (T 919).

LONNIE THOMPSON

About the time of this incident, 33 year old Lonnie Thompson was at a "Lil' Champ" store about 90 yards away and across highway 301. He went there, he said, "to get me a drink of water, because I'd stopped drinking beer." (T 1179) On cross-examination, however, he admitted that during the evening, he had drunk 12 "Tall Boys" or a gallon of beer (T 1212). He said, however, that he was not drunk. "I don't get drunk." (T 1179, 1211) He had ridden his bicycle to the store and was watching for the Highway Patrol when he noticed Mrs. Miscally struggling with a person he later identified as Joseph Green (T 1181).

He saw the man was upset, wave his arms, and say something (T 1240). She would not give up the purse she had in her hand.[†] The assailant had also grabbed it with one of his hands and had grabbed her with his other hand (T 1241). He also had the gun pointing at her the entire time (T 1246) although Thompson never saw it (T 1241). Instead, "the hand going like this here (indicating)." (T 1241-42)²

Mrs. Miscally's purse was in the truck (T 1442, 1487).

After seeing Mrs. Miscally stumble and fall, Thompson went to the Mapco, bought

 $^{^{1}\}text{Mrs}$. Miscally was holding the telephone with her other hand (T 1246).

 $^{^2}$ At trial he denied then admitted that the person who assaulted the victim had a holster (T 1243, 1246), and in his deposition Thompson claimed to have seen one on the assailant's left hip (T 1245).

another beer, and left (T 1253-54). He claimed to have never heard a police officer ask if anyone had heard or seen anything, and he never volunteered what he had seen (T 1253).

A short while later, however, the police went looking for Thompson. Officer Jeff Johnson found him, and when he asked Lonnie about the murder he told the policeman that the assailant had been a white man, tall, slim, and blonde headed. (T 1258). The man also had a white car that had a dent in one of its fenders (T 1259). Thompson had even talked with him, and this man had told him that something was going to happen (T 1259). What he told Johnson, he admitted at trial, was a lie (T 1259).

Johnson brought Thompson to the police station where the police questioned him for several hours or until about 6:30 in the morning (T 1260-61). He signed a half page statement implicating Green as Mrs. Miscally's killer (T 1260). Later that day, after the police had arrested Green, they brought Thompson back to the station and told him they wanted him to identify Joseph Green (T 1263, 2357). They ushered him into a room, and through a one way mirror, Thompson saw Green sitting alone in an adjoining office (T 1263). Thompson, who knew Green (T 1265), picked him as Miscally's killer (T 2350).

Lonnie Thompson was 33 at the time of the murder of Judy Miscally. He had an IQ of 67 which would put him in the retarded range (Defense exhibit #1). Several years earlier he had injured his head from a fall off a moving car that had knocked him unconscious (T 1193-94). He has had recurring dizzy spells and memory problems since then (T 1193-94).

³Thompson admitted that the prosecutor had met with him the day before trial to talk about the facts of the case (T 1218). Actually, he had met with the state four five times to

A couple of years later, someone beat him on the head with a stick (T 1194). A year before the trial another person clubbed him on the head again with a baseball bat (T 1195).

Thompson used to work at a steel plant, and while there a piece of steel "just hit my eyeball, hit the little dark part, that's all it hit." A doctor "fixed it pretty good. I ain't had no problem out of it, I know that." (T 1196)

When cross-examined at trial, Thompson initially said he had only four sixteen ounce beers on the evening of December 8 (T 1199). When shown a statement he had given to the police that evening he admitted he had told them he had drunk about a six pack (T 1200). In his deposition, he said he "may have drunk about six, maybe, or twelve." (T 1201) After further questioning by defense counsel, he settled on having drunk eight sixteen-ounce bottles of beer (T 1202).

After the shooting and leaving the Mapco store with his beer, the state's key witness went to the back of a local lounge that had used him occasionally to do odd jobs. Officer Johnson found him some time later, and once the policeman had him in his car, he drank another six beers (T 1211). When prompted by defense counsel, Thompson also recalled he had had "one little shot" of liquor at the lounge (T 1213). He claimed, however, "I wasn't drunk." (T 1211)

Thompson had seen Joseph Green an hour or so before the murder when the latter asked some band members playing at the lounge where Thompson worked for some cigarettes (T 1176). They were taking a break and he was there with them. Green came up and asked

review his testimony (T 1219).

for a cigarette. He was, according to Thompson, wearing a trench coat, a coat jacket, and black striped pants (T 1231). When questioned by the police the morning after the homicide, he never mentioned the assailant wore a trenchcoat because, he claimed, he was "too upset." (T 1233) He had, however, noticed Green's striped pants and coat, although he was almost 100 yards from the struggle, it was night, the lighting at the store was poor (T 1403-1405), semi-trucks and other cars drove down highway 301 (T 819, 1240), and Miscally's truck partially blocked his view (T 1237).

When asked about his status with the law on December 8, Thompson knew he was on probation, "I think probation." (T 1220) He denied, however, having any felony charges pending against him, "I don't think." (T 1220) Well, actually after a short recess at trial, he admitted he had been charged a month before the Miscally shooting with two felonies and a petit theft (T 1223, 1224). Eighteen months later, in March 1993, the state dropped the felony charges and agreed to let him plead to a misdemeanor (T 1224). Thompson believed he was getting a good deal from the state because he was a witness in the case against Green (T 1224-25).

His good fortune continued. When the state tried to violate his probation a month before Green's trial, the court dismissed the case because he his probationary period had expired (T 1225). There is no evidence Thompson knew this, and to the contrary, he believed he had gotten help from the state because of his assistance in this case (T 1228).

GREEN'S ACTIVITIES ON DECEMBER 8-9.

Joseph Green had a steady 40 hour a week job that sometimes demanded he work 50

or sixty hours (T 1515). He lived with his girl friend, Gwen Coleman, at the Starke Motor Court, a motel next to the Mapco (T 1515). She also had a steady job and received social security checks monthly (T 1515). On December 8, Green had gone to work as usual and returned about five that afternoon. He had two brothers and a sister who lived nearby. About eight o'clock he tried to borrow some money from one of them to pay his overdue motel rent (T 1517, 1520). He returned a half hour later, but left again thirty minutes later, staying away until nine thirty (T 1521). He talked with his brother on the telephone and the landlady who again reminded him he was behind in his rent (T 1522, 1616).

A short time after ten, the couple left their room to get some fresh air (T 1523). Green wore a dark pinstripe suit and a sweatshirt (T 1526, 1570). They headed north, away from the Mapco store and visited a friend who lived near the motel for a few minutes. The pair walked to Jessie's Lounge where Green asked the three men standing outside (one of whom was Lonnie Thompson) if any of them had a cigarette he could have (T 1525-26, 1528). From there they went to check the room rates at another motel, eventually ending up at the nearby Pizza Hut about eleven o'clock (T 1529).

Donald Lavery had parked his car there, and waited for his girl friend to get off work at the restaurant. He crawled under his car and tried to remove the muffler that had almost fallen off (T 1530, Perpetuated Deposition of Donald Lavery at p. 3).⁴ Some friends of his

⁴Green introduced the perpetuated testimony of Donald Lavery at trial. It was included as an exhibit, and was not paginated. To overcome this last deficiency, counsel has sequentially numbered the deposition with page number one being the title page.

arrived, and they helped, but to no avail (Deposition at pp. 4, 6). After a while Green and Coleman walked up, and the defendant offered his assistance (Deposition at p. 6). When Lavery told him he needed a saw, Green left, but returned 5-10 minutes later with one. (T 1530-32, Deposition at p. 8, 9) After another 20 minutes, or about 11 p.m. (Deposition pp. 11-12) they finally removed the muffler. Green asked Lavery for a couple of dollars, but when he said he did not have any money, the Defendant settled for some cigarettes (Deposition at p. 12). Green and Coleman then left (Deposition at p. 13).

Green went to work the next morning about five thirty (T 1534). Coleman talked with the landlady about accepting a partial payment for the rent, which she agreed to do (T 1534).

When Green learned he was a suspect in the Miscally homicide, he voluntarily went to the police station. After being warned of his rights, he answered the police officer's questions (T 1443). He was arrested while there.

WHAT KATRINA KINTNER SAW

Katrina Kintner's husband worked at the convenience store across highway 301 from the Mapco store where Judith Miscally was killed (T 1578), and it was the one from which Lonnie Thompson claimed to have seen the shooting. On the evening of December 8, Mrs. Kintner drove to the store with her two children in the back seat, parked her car in front of it, and waited until her husband got off work. While she sat there her daughter began to act up. The mother turned around to attend to her. She looked out the rear window and saw three black men standing around a white woman at the Mapco store (T 1582). The group stood near a telephone, a pickup truck was parked nearby, and a Camaro had stopped at the back

end of the truck (T 1582, 1601). The scene looked suspicious, and while taking care of her daughter, she heard a shot, like a car backfiring (T 1586). She looked up, saw the woman lying on the ground, two men fleeing north, and the car also heading that direction (T 1587, 1603). Immediately after, people from the store and others ran to help Mrs. Miscally (T 1608).

THE POLICE INVESTIGATION

On the night of the murder, the police used flashlights to search the ground and the area around the murder scene for any evidence (T 1043). They found only a .32 caliber shell casing. They did not cordon the crime scene off, or return when it was daylight to conduct a more thorough search (T 1060). They did not examine Mrs. Miscally's truck for evidence, nor the purse inside it. They found no fingerprints, and collected no hair, fiber, or blood samples (T 1056, 1073). They did, however, seize, pursuant to a search warrant, the clothing Green ostensibly wore on the evening of December 8 (T 1134). The police never asked Mrs. Kintner about what she had seen (T 1589), and she never volunteered her information. She believed the police had already arrested a suspect and did not need her evidence (T 1596).

⁵Mr. Brahmbbatt, the landlord at the motel where Green lived claimed to have looked out of a window where she lived about the time of the shooting. She saw Mrs. Miscally hitting a dumpster with a stick, walk toward her truck, then collapse (T 1090-91). A police officer saw the stick, thought it had nothing to do with the homicide, and sharpened one end of it with a knife so he could stick it in the pavement to show where the shell casing had been found (T 1047). It did not work well, so it was thrown aside (T 1047). Only after talking to Mr. Brahmbbatt was the piece of wood later seized (T 1048).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Joseph Green raises ten issues in this appeal: Eight guilt phase and two penalty phase arguments.

ISSUE I. Lonnie Thompson provided the only evidence linking Green to the murder, but he was retarded or at least had an IQ of 67, and on the night of the murder he had drunk at least a gallon of beer. Additionally, when first questioned by the police he said a white male had killed Ms. Miscally. The state presented no physical evidence linking Green to the murder, and Green could explain where he was before and after the time of the murder. There is, in short, little competent evidence supporting the jury's verdict of guilt.

ISSUE II. The court denied that it had the authority to order a new trial on the ground that the weight of the evidence was so insubstantial that it could not hold down a conviction. That was error. This court has given trial courts that power in civil cases, and with similar reasoning such authority should extend to the criminal law.

ISSUE III. Green allegedly approached Mrs. Miscally demanding money. She screamed. He shot. Events moved so quickly that while the defendant may have had the intent to shoot her, he had insufficient time to fully premeditate her murder.

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