FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

FEB 2 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JOSEPH NAHUME GREEN, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 83,003

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 292692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Green to be conscious of the nature of the act he was about to commit and the probable result of it insofar as the life of the victim was concerned. <u>Larry v. State</u>, 104 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1958).

But even if this Court disagrees with the foregoing, Green's first-degree murder conviction may be affirmed on a felony-murder theory (the underlying felony being robbery or attempted robbery), which Green concedes was presented to the jury. <u>Mungin v. State</u>, <u>supra; Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 1325, 1327-28 n. 1 (Fla. 1993); Jackson v. State, supra.

ISSUE IV

THE DEFENSE OPENED THE DOOR TO EXAMINATION CONCERNING KATRINA KINTER'S ALCOHOL USE; MOREOVER, ANY ERROR HERE IS HARMLESS

Green begins his argument on this issue by addressing the trial court's ruling as to Lonnie Thompson's prior cocaine use. What this discussion has to do with the proper scope of crossexamination of Katrina Kinter is not clear. Green was allowed to ask Thompson on cross-examination whether he had smoked cocaine or tried to buy cocaine the evening of the murder. Green denied any use or attempted use of cocaine that evening. Absent any showing that Lonnie Thompson had used cocaine the night of the crime, or during the trial, or that any prior use had affected his ability to observe, remember and recount, Green properly was precluded from cross-examining Thompson about any prior cocaine use to impeach his credibility. <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 656 (Fla. 1989). The State assumes that Green is hinting that the trial judge was not evenhanded in his treatment of the parties. The State does not agree, but, in any event, any ruling concerning the scope of Green's cross-examination of Thompson is not at issue here. Green could have made it an issue, but he did not, and his discussion of Thompson's cross-examination is an irrelevant digression.

What is at issue is whether the trial court erred in its ruling concerning the State's cross-examination of Katrina Kinter. The State agrees that had the defense not opened the door to the subject of Kinter's use of alcohol in its direct examination, then the State could not have cross-examined Kinter about her prior alcohol use for the purpose of impeachment, under <u>Edwards</u>. However, there are <u>two</u> permitted areas of inquiry on crossexamination: "the <u>subject matter of the direct examination</u> and <u>matters affecting the credibility of the witness</u>." § 90.612, Fla. Stat. 1995. Cross-examination as to the subject matter of the direct examination has traditionally been extended to the "entire subject matter" of the direct examination, including "all matters that may modify, supplement, contradict, rebut or make clearer the facts testified to in chief by the witness on cross examination." <u>Embrey v. Southern Gas & Electric Corp.</u>, 63 So.2d 258, 262-63 (Fla. 1953). More recently, this Court quoted with approval the following passage from 4 <u>Jones on Evidence</u>, Cross Examination of Witnesses § 25:3 (6th Ed. 1972):

[T]he rule limiting the inquiry to the general facts which have been stated in the direct examination must not be so construed as to defeat the real objects of the cross-examination. One of these objects is to elicit the whole truth of transactions which are only partly explained in the direct examination. Hence, questions which are intended to fill up designed or accidental omissions of the witness, or to call out facts tending to contradict, explain or modify some inference which might otherwise be drawn from his testimony, are legitimate cross-examination.

McRae v. State, 395 So. 2d 1145, 1152 (Fla. 1980).

Notably, Green's objection at trial was not that the State's cross-examination was outside the subject matter of direct examination; it was that it was not "proper impeachment" (TR 1593). Green has not preserved any objection that the State's question was not within the subject matter of direct examination. <u>Steinhorst v.</u> <u>State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). However, to the extent that such an objection may be reached on appeal, the State would contend that its cross examination was within the subject matter of the direct examination, and was proper as a means of eliciting the whole truth of the matter at issue, and to "contradict, explain or modify" an inference that might otherwise have been drawn from her testimony. Even Green admits in his brief that the purpose of his attorney's direct examination of Kinter was "obviously" to compare her "to Thompson." Appellant's brief at 38. Green further concedes that the State's cross-examination about Kinter's alcohol abuse was in response to Green's direct examination on the same subject. <u>Ibid</u>. As stated in <u>McRae</u>, <u>supra</u>, a "defendant cannot take advantage on appeal of a situation which he has created at trial." Having introduced the subject of Kinter's alcohol usage, Green should not be heard to complain about the State's crossexamination on the same issue.

But even if this Court should conclude that this issue has been preserved and that the State's cross-examination went beyond the proper scope of a subject raised in the first instance by the defense, any error was harmless. Unlike the drug usage at issue in Edwards, supra, alcohol consumption is not illegal. Furthermore, the witness testified on redirect that she had abstained from the use of alcohol for over three years, that she belonged to Alcoholics Anonymous, and that she had not only attended, but chaired, an Alcoholics Anonymous meeting earlier on the evening of the murder (TR 1610-11). The State did not even bother to mention Kinter's prior alcohol usage in its closing argument (probably

because it had an inconsequential affect on the credibility of her testimony). The State's cross-examination about her prior alcohol use had no detrimental effect upon her credibility and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

<u>ISSUE V</u>

THOMPSON IDENTIFIED GREEN AS THE KILLER BASED ON HIS EYEWITNESS OBSERVATION OF THE CRIME AND HIS PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE OF GREEN; THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO SUPPRESS THOMPSON'S IDENTIFICATION OF GREEN

Prior to trial, Green filed a "Motion to Suppress Identification by Witness" contending that any trial identification of Green by Lonnie Thompson would be tainted by "a highly suggestive and impermissible pre-trial show-up" (R 136). The trial court conducted a pre-trial hearing on this motion, at which three witnesses testified (TR 2312-2371).

Early in the morning of December 9, 1992, Lonnie Thompson gave a statement to police about what he had seen, and identified Joseph Green as the person who shot Judith Miscally (TR 2319-20, 2324, 2326, 2334, 2343). Subsequently, Thompson left the police station (TR 2326). That afternoon, Green was picked up at work and brought voluntarily to the police station for questioning (TR 2314). He

was arrested that evening, at 7:30 p.m. (TR 2331). Thompson was brought back to the police station to see if he could identify Green by viewing him through a one-way mirror (TR 2322, 2326, 2328). He did so (TR 2324). Thompson testified that at the time of this identification he had known Green for three or four years (TR 2337). He also knew two of Green's brothers (TR 2337-38). On the evening of the murder, he saw Green twice; once when Green showed up at Jessie's and tried to bum a cigarette from two members of the band (TR 2339), and again at the Mapco when he saw Green shoot Judith Miscally, whom Green also knew (TR 2339-40). Не explained why he had given incorrect information to officer Johnson about the shooting (TR 2342-43, 2347-48, 2364), but testified that he had subsequently told the truth to officers Shuford, Reno, and Wilkinson, and to everyone he had talked to since (TR 2343-44). Before Green was "ever" brought to the police station, Thompson told the police that could identify Green (TR 2349). There is no record support for Green's factual assertion that Thompson had to observe Green at the station for "15-20 minutes" before he could identify him. Appellant's brief at 42. Green also claims that Thompson was "vague" about the clothes Green was wearing at the station. Id. at 42-43. He may have been, but as Thompson stated, "You know a person by his size and everything, you know, and by his

hair and stuff." (TR 2360). Thompson testified without contradiction that he could have recognized Green wherever he was. In fact, Green's trial attorney conceded that Thompson knew Green, stating: "Mr. Thompson ... knows Joseph Green. I mean we're not denying that, and it is a fact. ... [W] ithout any doubt he knows Joseph Green when he sees him. And I don't have any challenge or any complaint to that." (TR 2364, 2366).

The trial court denied the motion "[p]rimarily because the person who originates the identification of Joseph Green is Lonnie Thompson. He does it many hours before the show-up at the police station." (TR 2369). Therefore, the court reasoned, "His initial identification of Joseph Green could not have been tainted by something that occurred afterwards, obviously. So that the showup, itself, could not be the basis for withholding an in-court identification from Lonnie Thompson." (TR 2369).

Thompson testified at trial. Green's trial counsel did not renew his objection at trial to Thompson's identification of Green. Therefore, no issue of any suggestive identification procedure has been preserved for appeal. <u>Buchanan v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 704, 707 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (objection to identification testimony where police used unnecessarily suggestive procedures must be renewed at trial, notwithstanding prior ruling on motion to suppress).

But even if this issue is preserved, it is clear that the trial court ruled correctly. It is true that one-man showups ordinarily should be avoided, because they are unnecessarily suggestive. But the initial identification of Green by Thompson shown to be tainted by any sort of suggestive was not suggestive identification procedure. identification Ιf no procedure was used to obtain the initial identification, there is no necessity to address whether a later, suggestive procedure gave rise to a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Coleman v. <u>State</u>, 610 So.2d 1283, 1286 (Fla. 1992).

Even where the pretrial identification is "obtained by unnecessarily suggestive means ..., such identification is not per se inadmissible and may be introduced into evidence if found to be reliable and based upon the witness's independent recall absent the illegal police conduct." <u>Willacy v. State</u>, 640 So.2d 1079, 1083 (Fla. 1994). Here, not only had Thompson identified Green prior to any suggestive procedure and independently of such procedure, but he knew Green and had known him and his family for years. Green's argument that Thompson's long acquaintance with Green "probably tainted his identification" (Appellant's brief at 45) truly turns the matter on its head. The fact that Thompson has known Green for years contributes to the reliability and independence of his

identification. <u>Cf. Manson v. Brathwaite</u>, 432 U.S. 98, 112, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977) (noting that one of the "problems" with eyewitness identification is that "[u]sually the witness must testify about an encounter with a <u>total stranger</u> under circumstances of emergency or emotional stress," and that the "recollection of the <u>stranger</u> can be distorted easily by the circumstances or by later actions of the police"). Given Green's concession at trial that Thompson "knows Green when he sees him," he is in no position to argue that Thompson's identification of Green is constitutionally unreliable. Furthermore, since Thompson identified Green before the one-man showup occurred, it is obvious that Thompson's identification of Green then and at trial was based upon his independent recollection of the offender at the time of the crime.

The trial court did not err by refusing to suppress Thompson's identification of Green.

<u>ISSUE VI</u>

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE DENIAL OF CHANGE OF VENUE; ALL JURORS WHO SERVED STATED THEY COULD RENDER A VERDICT BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE AND THE DEFENSE USED ONLY FIVE OF ITS ALLOTTED PEREMPTORY STRIKES

At issue here is the trial court's denial of Green's motion for change of venue. The crime occurred on December 8, 1992. The trial began on September 27, 1993 (TR 1). Prospective jurors underwent individual, sequestered voir dire examination (TR 100, et seq.). Although most of the prospective jurors had heard something about the crime, their knowledge was minimal and based on newspaper articles they had read almost nine months earlier (TR 622-23). All but one of Green's thirteen challenges for cause were granted (TR 126, 127, 157-58, 242, 247, 259, 347, 348, 353-54, 393, 533, 586-88), and he exercised a peremptory against the lone prospective juror whom he had unsuccessfully challenged for cause (TR 520, 639)¹.

At the time the parties argued the motion for change of venue, the defense had exercised none of its peremptory challenges (TR 628, 632-33). The defense had been granted 12 challenges for cause (see above); the state two (TR 263, 573). The defense noted that of 42 jurors questioned, 14 had been challenged for cause (TR 629). However, it is not accurate to say, as Green now does, that the

¹In addition, Green initially challenged prospective juror Jewell Landy for cause (TR 367-68), but after further examination decided not to pursue the challenge for cause (TR 369). Ms. Landy subsequently was accepted as a juror even though both parties had peremptory strikes remaining (TR 641-42).

trial court "excused a third of the panel because of what they Appellant's brief at 54. The two prospective jurors knew." challenged for cause by the State were excused for reasons other than their knowledge of the case (one had a criminal record; the other was unalterably opposed to capital punishment). Moreover, not all of the defense challenges were based on knowledge of the crime². In any event, the trial court noted that a "substantial number" of prospective jurors on the last two of the three panels "were from Brooker or Melrose or Keystone Heights or other outlying areas of the county who evidenced virtually no knowledge of the case at all" TR 631-32). The trial judge stated: "I believe that we can pick a jury in this case that will be a fair jury and at this moment it appears to me that we have a sufficient pool to begin that process from. ... [T]he ... motion for change of venue will be denied." (TR 632).

The trial court proved correct. In fact, a jury was selected from the first three panels; the remainder of the prospective jurors (TR 460-61) were not needed (TR 644). Significantly, the State exercised more peremptory challenges than the defense. The

²Pauline Peterson-Randolph works at a convenience store herself, and Willie Houston's girlfriend works at Mapco (TR 393, 348).

State exercised a total of eight peremptories; the defense exercised only five (TR 641-42, 643). Moreover, after exercising those five peremptories, Green's trial attorney stated, "[W]e're satisfied with the rest of the folks as being adequate in the case." (TR 642).

As Green concedes, an "application for a change of venue is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and that ruling will not be overturned absent a palpable abuse of discretion." Estv v. State, 642 So.2d 1074, 1077 (Fla. 1994). "Pretrial publicity alone does not warrant a change of venue." Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347, 1352 (Fla. 1994)³. "The defendant has the burden to show prejudice." Ibid. All the jurors selected to try this case stated unequivocally that they could decide the case solely on the evidence presented at trial. <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000, 1007 (Fla. 1994). "Thus, the pretrial knowledge of the jurors who served did not preclude a fair and impartial jury." Pietri v. State, supra. In addition, the fact that Green failed to use all of his allotted peremptory challenges, and, indeed, expressed through counsel his satisfaction with the jurors actually selected, strongly indicates the absence of juror prejudice.

³The State would note that at page 53 of his brief, Green erroneously cites to the transcript instead of to the record.

<u>United States v. Alvarez</u>, 755 F.2d 830, 859 (11th Cir. 1985) (fact that appellants failed to use all of their allotted peremptory challenges indicates absence of juror prejudice; appellant's change of venue claim rejected).

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying the motion for change of venue.

ISSUE VII

GREEN HAS WAIVED ANY ISSUE AS TO WHETHER STATEMENTS MADE BY JUDITH MISCALLY AFTER SHE WAS SHOT WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED AS EXCITED UTTERANCES

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